
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

AGENDA 

July 24, 2012 



 

 

CITY OF OAK HARBOR       AGENDA 
PLANNING COMMISSION July 24, 2012 
REGULAR MEETING   7:30 P.M. 
CITY HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 
ROLL CALL: NEIL      JENSEN    FAKKEMA      

WASINGER       OLIVER   
   WALLIN    JOHNSON-PFEIFFER    
 
 Page 3 

1. Approval of Minutes – May 22, 2012 
  

2. Public Comment – Planning Commission will accept public comment for items not 
otherwise on the agenda for the first 15 minutes of the Planning Commission meeting. 
 
Page 14 

3. FAIRWAY POINT PRD MODIFICATION TO CONSIDER ADU'S  – Public Hearing 
The Planning Commission will hold a public hearing to gather public input and 
community interest on the proposal to add accessory dwelling units to the basements of 
homes on unbuilt lots within Divisions 1, 3, and 4 of Fairway Point PRD.  Adding 
additional dwelling units to the subdivision changes the density of the PRD thus 
triggering a modification to the PRD and a public input process.  
 

 Page 48 
4. NIGHTCLUB ORDINANCE – Public Meeting 

The Planning Commission will hold a public meeting to gather public input and further 
discuss options on how nightclubs in Oak Harbor should be regulated to reduce impacts 
on adjacent properties especially residential uses. This is a discussion item and options 
will be presented to pursue for code amendments.    

 
 Page 52 
5. OHMC Chapter 17.24 SIDEWALKS, CURBS AND GUTTERS INSTALLATION – 

Public Meeting 
The Planning Commission will discuss the building code as it relates to the requirement 
to provide sidewalks under certain development/redevelopment scenarios. 

 
 Page 56 
6. SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM (SMP) UPDATE – Public Meeting 

The City of Oak Harbor is required by the State of Washington to update its Shoreline 
Master Program (SMP). The Planning Commission will continue its discussion of the 
draft SMP document focusing on Chapter 4 “Shoreline Use Provisions.” Topics covered 
in this discussion will include, shoreline setbacks, building heights, boating facilities, 
marinas, commercial development, and residential development. 

 
 Page 65 
7. 2012 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT DISCUSSION – LAND USE CHANGE – 

Public Meeting 
The Planning Commission will begin a discussion on the land use changes for the 
uplands adjacent to the marina.  The item was placed on the Comprehensive Plan 
Amendment docket for 2012 to consider a land use designation that would permit a 
wider range of uses such as commercial/industrial that can take advantage of the site’s 
proximity and access to the water. This is a discussion item and no action or 
recommendation will be made at this time.   

 

2



MINUTES 

 

May 22, 2012 

3



 

Planning Commission 
May 22, 2012 

Page 1 of 8 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
CITY HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
May 22, 2012 
 
ROLL CALL:  Present: Bruce Neil, Kristi Jensen, Greg Wasinger, Keith Fakkema, Jeff Wallin 

and Jill Johnson-Pfeiffer.  
 Absent: Gerry Oliver. 

Staff Present:  Development Services Director, Steve Powers; Senior Planners, 
Ethan Spoo and Cac Kamak; Associate Planner, Melissa Sartorius; Project 
Engineer, Arnie Peterschmidt. 

 
Chairman Neil called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
MINUTES: MR. FAKKEMA MOVED, MS. JOHNSON-PFEIFFER SECONDED, MOTION 

CARRIED TO APPROVE THE APRIL 24, 2012 MINUTES AS PRESENTED.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
No comments. 
 
SIX-YEAR TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (TIP) – Public Hearing 
Mr. Neil opened the public hearing on this item. 
 
Mr. Peterschmidt reported: 
The City is required by State law to submit an approved six-year Transportation Improvement 
Program. The primary purpose of the TIP is to facilitate use of Federal transportation funds 
awarded to the City.  The submittal process is accomplished in conjunction with the Regional 
Transportation Planning Organization (RTPO). Once approved by the Council, the City’s TIP is 
submitted to the RTPO. In turn, the RTPO submits a regional TIP to the State by October of 
each year. The State then prepares a statewide TIP in January of each year. The incorporation 
of the City’s projects into this statewide TIP is what enables the City to spend Federal funds on 
local transportation projects. 
 
The projects listed on the TIP are coordinated with those listed in the Transportation Element of 
the Comprehensive Plan. Coordinating projects in the Transportation Comprehensive Plan, the 
Six-Year TIP and the Capital Facilities Plan improve our communication and coordination with 
other agencies and help the City remain focused on a manageable list of transportation projects.  
 
The six-year TIP form includes a number of codes and symbols used in the statewide 
management of the regional TIP documents. A symbol in the status column of “S” means 
funding is secured while a symbol of “P” indicates the project is not funded. 
 
Mr. Powers added that the recommendation to the Planning Commission is to conduct a public 
hearing and make a recommendation to the City Council to adopt the 2013-2018 Six-Year 
Transportation Improvement Program. 
 
Discussion 
Ms. Jensen pointed out that SW Heller Street Improvements have the number 12 listed as the 
improvement type code and there is no improvement type code number 12 in Appendix A.  Mr. 
Peterschmidt said it is a typographical error and the improvement type code should be number 
4 which is “Reconstruction, no added capacity”.  

4



 

Planning Commission 
May 22, 2012 

Page 2 of 8 

 
Ms. Johnson-Pfeiffer asked what the Eagle Vista – West Extension does.  Mr. Peterschmidt said 
the extension would provide access to the highway and would be a development driven project.  
Mr. Powers added that the extension would facilitate east/west circulation in the southern 
portion of the City limits and that we need to ensure that we have good east/west circulation as 
parcels develop.  If we don’t plan ahead for the project there will only be local street connections 
to the highway.  This project will line up with Eagle Vista on the east side of the highway so that 
there is alignment that makes sense. 
 
Mr. Neil asked for public comment. Seeing none the public hearing was closed. 
 
ACTION:  MR. WALLIN MOVED, MS. JENSEN SECONDED A MOTION TO 

RECOMMEND THAT THE CITY COUNCIL ADPOPT THE 2013-2018 SIX-
YEAR TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM WITH THE 
CORRECTION OF THE IMPROVEMENT TYPE CODE TO NUMBER 4 FOR 
THE SW HELLER STREET IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT.  MOTION CARRIED. 

 
SIGN CODE – Public Hearing 
The Planning Commission continued its discussion of amendments to OHMC 19.36.080 
(“Temporary and Special Signs”).  Mr. Spoo summarized the changes that were made to the 
draft sign code resulting from comments made at the March Planning Commission meeting as 
follows: 
 
Organizational Changes: 

 Two main sections: (1) Private property (2) Public property 
 Public property section reorganized by forum 

Public rights-of-way = traditional public forum 
City parks = traditional public forum 
City vehicles = non-public forum 
City buildings = non-public forum 

 
Key Changes: 

 Definition of political signs expanded.  Mr. Spoo provided a comment letter from the 
American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) regarding the definition of “political sign” (the 
letter is attached as Attachment A to these minutes) 

 Permit system – eliminated (also commented on by ACLU) 
 Time limits – 6 mos. eliminated. Shorter and more specific timelines remain 
 Post election timeframe: 14 days  
 Community events signs:  can be posted 4-6 weeks prior, removal within a week. 
 “Appearance of professionalism” language: Staff is seeking Planning Commission input. 

There are two choices - either keep the “appearance of professionalism” language in the 

code or remove it all together.  Previously, the Planning Commission had a discussion 
about hand-drawn or hand-painted images and lettering. Based on public input and 
previous discussion, the Planning Commission wanted to allow for artistic signs that 
might have hand-drawn images or lettering. Planning Commission asked staff to draw a 
distinction between spray paint on plywood and more artistic signs. Mr. Spoo indicated 
that there is a question about whether these types of quality standards are desirable for 
temporary signs. Most communities don’t have quality standards. 
 

5



 

Planning Commission 
May 22, 2012 

Page 3 of 8 

Mr. Spoo continued reviewing the changes to the draft sign code: 
 
Signs within public ROW 

 Limits on commercial sign types (portable A-frame, flag pole banners, residential 
directions “open house” signs, subdivision directional signs designating new 
development and community events and fund raisers) 

 Garage sale deleted - only allowed on private property  
 

Signs within public parks 
 Signs cannot be installed (may not be affixed to park equipment, land of facilities in any 

way, this prohibition includes pounding a temporary sign into the ground) 
 Transitory signs allowed (signs such as those used for protest, picket, demonstrate etc.) 
 Exceptions - signs for sponsorships in Windjammer and Volunteer Parks. Notifications 

for youth sports leagues and information banners in Gateway-Beeksma Park. 
 City vehicles/buildings: are non-public forums and signs are not allowed 

 
Mr. Spoo reported that there were two meetings with Downtown Merchants Association.  On 
April 18, they discussed: 

 Flag banners 
 A-frames/sandwich boards: ability to have & location 
 Remote placement of temporary signs 
 Event signage – clarified 
 Sign directory 

 
On May 16 the Association re-emphasized their desire for a sign directory. 
 
Mr. Spoo concluded by noting that substantial work went into this project by the Planning 
Commission and staff. The draft code is detailed and specific and public input was sought and 
considered and we have done our best to meet constitutional standards.  Mr. Spoo also noted 
that additional legal review is likely.  Mr. Spoo recommended that the Planning Commission 
conclude their discussion and forward the draft sign code to the City Council for their approval. 
 
Discussion 
Mr. Fakkema commented that he noticed “public right-of-way” was not defined in Section 
19.36.020 and asked if “public right-of-way” was defined somewhere else in the code.  Mr. 
Powers said that the definition was either in the zoning definitions or the subdivision code but 
that it should be in the sign code section as well and will be added. 
 
Mr. Fakkema commented that he objected to the change in Section 19.36.080(1)(b)(ii)(C) which 
deletes Christmas and replaces it with Holiday Season, but he realized that it would not be 
changed. 
 
Mr. Wallin asked if the banners were only allowed in the CBD zone public right-of-ways.  Mr. 
Spoo said that was correct. 
 
Ms. Johnson-Pfeiffer asked if the flag pole holes in the sidewalks were public or privately 
owned.  Mr. Spoo said they are on public property.  Ms. Johnson-Pfeiffer said she was 
concerned that any type of speech could also go into the flag pole holes.  
 

6



 

Planning Commission 
May 22, 2012 

Page 4 of 8 

Mr. Wasinger asked if permission was granted to put the holes for the flags in the sidewalk.  Mr. 
Powers said that since the sidewalk is the City’s we didn’t need permission.  Mr. Powers also 
noted that there is language in the code that says, before placing a sign in the public right-of-
way, you have to get permission from the private property owner adjacent to the sign.  This 
language has been used in other communities and has been upheld. 
 
Ms. Johnson-Pfeiffer commented that the expensive planters downtown should be protected 
from signs because the planters are intended for a specific purpose (beautification).  She was 
concerned that there could be a “free-for-all” of signs in the planters and all it would take is one 
sign to start a “free-for-all.”  Mr. Spoo offered to craft language about what type of sign holder 
could be used in the planters in an effort to protect the planter but still allow speech.  Ms. 
Johnson said her preference was to keep the signs out of the planters.  Mr. Powers offered that 
there could be a subset within the public forum within the public right-of-way that says that you 
don’t utilize planters that are above ground as opposed to the strips that are more traditionally 
available for the placement of signs. 
 
Mr. Wallin thought that there was already discussion about the type of sign holder that would be 
allowed i.e. thin metal stakes as opposed to thick wooden stakes.  Mr. Spoo said that language 
could be crafted but we shouldn’t restrict to a certain type of sign holder that is more expensive. 
That could effectively amount to content restriction because you would not be allowing an 
underfunded candidate to express their viewpoint.  In the interest in maintaining the city’s 
investment in the planters and avoiding underground pipes that might be in the planter, we can 
craft language to that effect. 
 
Mr. Neil asked if we are still allowing the dancing pizza person in the right-of-way.  Mr. Spoo 
said that the dancing pizza signs have not been called out as prohibited but if you look at the list 
of types of signs allowed in the public right-of-way the dancing pizza sign is not listed and would 
not be allowed as the code is drafted.  
 
Mr. Fakkema voiced his support of Ms. Johnson-Pfeiffer’s comments about not allowing signs in 
the raised planters. 
 
Ms. Jensen asked whether the planters were private property in the public right-of-way.  Mr. 
Powers said that the planters were purchased with public dollars so they are public property.  
Mr. Powers said that as long as there is the ability to have some form of political speech sign 
within the CBD that he didn’t believe it was necessary to allow them on every location within the 
public right-of-way.  Staff can look at language that prohibits all temporary sign from being in 
those planters so long as we allow political speech signs elsewhere within the right-of-way 
within the CBD.   
 
Mr. Neil asked for public comment. 
 
Mr. John Voigt (732 La Conner Street, Coupeville WA) asked what the effective date would be 
if the ordinance was adopted.  Mr. Powers said the effective date would be five days after it was 
published in the newspaper. 
 
Planning Commission discussed whether or not to leave the “Appearance of professionalism” 
language in the code. Commission members agreed that the language should be left in the 
code. 
 

7



 

Planning Commission 
May 22, 2012 

Page 5 of 8 

ACTION:  MS. JOHNSON-PFEIFFER MOVED, MR. WALLIN SECONDED A MOTION TO 
RECOMMEND THAT THE CITY COUNCIL ADPOPT THE SIGN CODE 
ORDINANCE INCLUDING THE LANGUAGE “APPEARANCE OF 
PROFESSIONALISM” AND THE ADDITION OF THE DEFINITION OF PUBLIC 
RIGHT-OF-WAY AND SOME INCLUSION OF RESTRICTIONS FOR RAISED 
PLANTERS WITHIN THE CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT.  MOTION 
CARRIED. 

 
SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM (SMP) – Public Meeting 
Mr. Spoo briefed the Planning Commission on their role in the SMP project which is to listen, 
understand, question and make recommendations.  Mr. Spoo noted that the SMP is also being 
reviewed by the Department of Ecology (DOE).  It is possible that DOE will have comments that 
affect the draft and those proposed changes will be reviewed with the Planning Commission. 
 
Mr. Spoo explained the purpose of the Shoreline Management Act (state legislation that guides 
the creation of SMP’s) and the Shoreline Master Program is to promote and enhance public 

access, prioritize water dependent and water oriented uses over non-water oriented uses, and 
to preserve and restore the environment. 
 
Mr. Spoo noted that the shoreline jurisdiction is 200 feet back from the ordinary high watermark 
(OHWM) and also includes wetlands that cross that 200 foot mark and goes to the edge of the 
wetland. 
 
Mr. Spoo explained that the SMP requires DOE approval and if we don’t meet their standards 

DOE will step in and adopt an SMP that suits their needs.  This is our chance to exercise our 
local preferences in the SMP.   
 
Mr. Spoo explained that jurisdictions are required to meet what is called “no net loss” of 

ecological functions.  Ecological functions are hydrology, vegetation and habitat.  We have to 
demonstrate that whatever development occurs in the shoreline jurisdiction meets no net loss. 
 
Mr. Spoo moved on to Chapter 2 of the SMP and explained Shoreline Environment 
Designations.  They are akin to zoning and are a type of overlay zoning that applies within the 
shoreline jurisdiction and they apply in addition to the underlying zoning. 
 
Mr. Spoo displayed the following table which shows the State designations and the proposed 
designations for Oak Harbor and describes the types of allowed uses: 
  

8



 

Planning Commission 
May 22, 2012 

Page 6 of 8 

 
 

State 
Designation 

Types of Uses Allowed Purposed 
Designations 

Types of Uses Allowed Intensity 

Natural Low intensity, 
recreation, restoration 

N/A N/A Less intense 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
More intense 
 

Aquatic Applies to area 
waterward of OHWM. 
Uses must be water-
dependent, public 
access, or ecological 
restoration. 

Aquatic Same as for State 

Urban 
Conservancy 

Focus is on maintaining 
or restoring sensitive 
lands, wetland, etc. 

Residential 
Bluff 
Conservancy 

Focus on maintenance of 
bluff, plus permitting 
single-family residential in 
appropriate places 

Shoreline 
Residential 

Residential, public 
access, recreation 

Residential Single-family, recreation, 
public facilities. 

High intensity High intensity 
commercial, industrial, 
residential. Preference 
order: water-dependent, 
water-oriented, non-
water-oriented. 

Maritime High intensity, water-
dependent, commercial 
and industrial uses. 

  Urban Mixed 
Use 

High Intensity, water-
oriented commercial and 
residential. 

 
While displaying the map depicting the proposed shoreline environment designations for Oak 
Harbor, Mr. Spoo reviewed the designations and explained that the map is just a depiction of 
the approximate location of shoreline jurisdiction and is not accurate enough to do a 
determination on a parcel-by-parcel basis.  Mr. Spoo also noted that Maritime allows for 
industrial and commercial uses and allows for water-dependent industry (shipping, boat 
building, aquaculture, etc.).  The Residential - Bluff Conservancy allows appropriately sited 
residential development along the bluff and is generally more precise than the existing 
designation “Natural”. 
 
Planning Commission Discussion 
Commissioners had questions about the Residential Bluff Conservancy designation.  Mr. Spoo 
explained that the current SMP’s designation of the bluff area as “Natural” which states that any 
type of residential use within 200 feet of the OHWM is not allowed.  The proposed designation 
(Residential Bluff Conservancy) would allow uses within 200 feet as long as there was a 
geotechnical survey of the slope. 
 
Commissioners asked about the Navy property which is designated “Conservancy” and whether 
the designation could be changed if the land were to be used in another way.  Mr. Spoo said 
that the SMP would have to be amended in order to change the designation.  Commissioners 

9



 

Planning Commission 
May 22, 2012 

Page 7 of 8 

asked if labeling something “conservancy” would ever allow a change of use.  Mr. Spoo said 
that it was possible and that there is a legal avenue to do so but it is probably not likely because 
the areas that are designated conservancy are wetlands and have a high ecological value.  
DOE would ask how no net loss could be achieved if a wetland was opened up for 
development.  Mr. Spoo also noted that the Navy is not subject to the City SMP, federal actions 
on federal land are not subject to the SMP only private action on federal land is subject to the 
SMP.  Mr. Powers added that it is not the ownership of the land that is driving the designation 
but the ecological function of the land that is driving the designation. 
 
Commissioners asked if it was possible for areas that were developable now to change if a 
wetland was to expand into that developable land.  They also asked if no net loss was 
measured from today’s conditions.  Mr. Spoo said that the City is required to do an inventory 
and characterization report every 7 years to look at where the boundaries of the wetlands are 
so, we are setting a baseline as to what the conditions of the shoreline is now and no net loss 
will be measured against that in the future.  Mr. Powers noted that the data that was used to 
develop the map was through the National Wetland Inventories map.  
 
Mr. Spoo moved on to Chapter 3 - General Provisions.  Mr. Spoo explained that the general 
provisions apply to all areas within the shoreline jurisdiction and are not environment specific.  
The two things that generated the most discussion in the Shoreline Advisory Committee were 
public access and vegetation conservation. Mr. Spoo reminded the Commission that public 
access was one of the three main goals of the Shoreline Management Act.  The definition of 
public access includes both physical and visual access to the shoreline. So it is not just paths, 
trails and walkways along the shoreline, it also includes views of the shoreline from public 
areas.  This is based on the Public Trust Doctrine which says that waters of the State are 
publicly owned and are available for the public’s enjoyment and use.  In order to promote the 
Public Trust Doctrine the State sometimes requires public access over private properties in 
specific instances. To put this in perspective there are very few opportunities for the State to 
require public access with new development along our shoreline because most of the Oak 
Harbor shoreline is already developed. Mr. Spoo reiterated that the regulations only apply to the 
shoreline jurisdiction and are only triggered by new development.  Mr. Spoo also noted an 
exclusion to the public access requirement, which states that single-family residential and 
subdivisions of 4 lots or less are excluded.  Mr. Spoo cited several other exclusions and 
requirements and noted that the key point is to balance private property rights with the public 
interest. 
 
Mr. Spoo talked about Vegetation Conservation which is a DOE required element.  Vegetation 
Conservation provides human and environmental benefits such as shoreline stabilization, filters 
sediments and provides food to aquatic life in the form of insects.  Ecology prefers a buffer and 
setback system with buffers of 30 feet in urban settings.  Oak Harbor’s draft SMP proposes a 
two-zone vegetation conservation system composed of a vegetation management zone (VMZ), 
also known as a buffer, and a setback. Zone 1, nearest the water, is a 30-foot (VMZ) buffer from 
the OHWM. Zone 2 is a 50-foot structural setback from the OHWM, extending 20 feet beyond 
the vegetative buffer. Whenever new development is proposed beyond 50% of the assessed 
value of the property, a shoreline landscaping plan that complies with vegetation conservation 
requirements must be submitted. Mr. Spoo detailed the regulations that apply to Zone 1 and 
Zone 2. 
 
Planning Commission Discussion 
Commissioners asked about non-conforming uses.  Mr. Spoo said there were provisions for 
expanding non-conforming uses.  If you wanted to expand a non-conforming use a conditional 

10



 

Planning Commission 
May 22, 2012 

Page 8 of 8 

use permit would be required.  Mr. Powers added that there is not a specific square foot 
threshold but the threshold comes as a result of the value of the proposal permit. 
 
Mr. Spoo concluded his presentation and noted that next month the Planning Commission 
would cover Chapter 4 of the draft SMP. 
 
Mr. Neil asked for public comment. 
 
Carl Freund (2498 SW Freund Street) expressed his concern about the mapping that has been 
used and would like to see it updated to reflect the portion of his land that has been designated 
as upland for a long time.  He also noted that the seven acres adjacent to the Dillard property 
was a man-made wetland permitted by DOE and the Army Corp of Engineers and the materials 
that came out of that wetland was put as fill on the adjacent land that was designated uplands 
and he didn’t want to see it labeled as “Conservancy”.  
 
Mr. Spoo said that the map that shows the shoreline environment designation is an approximate 
map and if there is better information about where the actual edge of the wetland is we will take 
that into consideration and if the information shows that the wetland is not on Mr. Freund’s 
property then we wouldn’t consider that part of the shoreline jurisdiction.  
  
OHMC Chapter 17.24 SIDEWALKS, CURBS AND GUTTERS INSTALLATION – Public 
Meeting 
 
ACTION:  MR. WALLIN MOVED, MS. JENSEN SECONDED A MOTION TO MOVE THIS 

AGENDA ITEM TO THE NEXT PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR 
BUSINESS MEETING.  MOTION CARRIED. 

 
ADJOURN:  9:37 p.m. 

11



12



13



Fairway Point PRD 

Modification to Consider  

Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU) 

 

Public Hearing 

 

14





































































Nightclub Ordinance 

 

Public Meeting 

48



  

 

FROM: Cac Kamak, AICP  

Senior Planner 

   

 

 

PURPOSE 

This is a continuation of the discussion on the request to consider restricting nightclubs 

based on size.  The Planning Commission held a public meeting at the April 24, 2012 

meeting and obtained public input on this issue.  Speaking to this issues were several 

members in the public that represented residences adjacent to nightclub licensed 

establishments, nightclub licensed establishment owners and nightclub patrons. 

 

DISCUSSION 

In reviewing the public comments and input from the April 24
th

 Planning Commission 

meeting, we can determine certain key factors.  Listed below are some of these factors 

which may eventually help in regulating the impacts of large nightclubs: 

 

 Understanding by the public that adoption of any new codes may not change the 

operations of current nightclubs 

 Small scale establishments that have nightclub licenses such as the Oak Harbor 

Tavern and Seven West don’t seem to be a negative impact on surrounding areas 

 Only the large scale establishments that have a nightclub license seem to have 

impacts 

 Almost all the complaints heard at the public meeting were related to a specific 

nightclub (the Element). 

 The impacts identified were primarily about noise created by large groups of 

people, loud cars, trespassing, lack of respect and poor business practices 

 The perceived lack of the Element owner’s cooperation, neighborliness and  

initiative to make the business more compatible 

 Preference for restricting specifically nightclubs as opposed to general uses in a 

district    

 

It seems evident from the public input gathered that the scale of nightclubs and the 

number of people that they can accommodate has a direct nexus to the negative impacts 

on adjacent properties.  Therefore the success of any solution would seem to be directly 

related to the ability of any proposed regulation to restrict the number of people that can 

patronize such an establishment on any given night.  There are potentially several ways to 

address this issue and a few methodologies are discussed below. 

 

1. Regulate nightclubs as a land use:  There were several comments received at 

the public meeting on amending the zoning code to include nightclubs as a use in 

certain zoning districts and requiring such uses to obtain a Conditional Use 

Permit. 

 Date: __June 26, 2012 

Subject: Restricting size of Nightclubs 

by zoning districts   

City of Oak Harbor 
Planning Commission Memo 

49



  

 Pros:  Requiring a nightclub to obtain a conditional use permit is a public 

process that will require public hearings and therefore adjacent property 

owners will have an opportunity to comment on the permit.  This will 

allow the Hearing Examiner to consider impacts and impose appropriate 

conditions on the use. 

 Cons:  It is possible for a nightclub to be approved if the proposed use 

meets all the identified criteria and still be an impact on the adjacent 

properties.  It is then a difficult and legally challenging process to identify 

and document violations of conditions of approval and to revoke the 

conditional use permit.    

 

Under the current structure of the code, where any use can obtain a 

nightclub license, defining nightclubs separately in the zoning ordinance 

will add an extra layer of confusion.  For example, would a restaurant 

(currently listed as a use) wanting to apply for a nightclub license be 

considered as a restaurant or as a nightclub?  The requirements for these 

from a building code and zoning code stand point are different and review 

of these permits can be challenging.  Situations such as these can 

potentially create legal loop holes. 

 

2. Licensing uses by area:  This idea was included in the last memo to Planning 

Commission as a potential option to follow.  This idea would keep all the current 

codes in place and add an area threshold to OHMC Chapter 5.22, Business 

Licenses & Regulation.  For instance, only structures/spaces below 5000 square 

feet are eligible for nightclub licenses.  

 Pros:  This will definitely limit the size of building or use that can apply 

for a nightclub license. 

 Cons:  This option may not address the actual impact of large groups of 

people generated from nightclubs because occupancy limits vary based on 

primary use and interior features/fixtures of the building.  Therefore, there 

is a high probability that a 5000 square feet space can vary in occupancy 

limit ranging from 50 to 500.  For example, a restaurant under 5000 square 

feet and a occupant limit of 120 can apply for a nightclub license and so 

can a piano bar under 5000 square feet and a occupant limit of 400.  So, 

although the square footage is the same, the occupancy limits can vary 

substantially. 

 

3. Licensing uses by occupant limit:  Using occupancy limits to restrict nightclubs 

was discouraged in the last memo to Planning Commission.  However, further 

discussion with the City’s Building Official has indicated that occupancy limits 

can be used creatively to regulate nightclubs.  The use of occupancy limits was 

discouraged earlier because it would not be feasible to implement a regulation that 

limited nightclub license holders to certain occupancy limits.  For example, if the 

City adopted a code to limit all nightclubs to an occupancy limit of 100, and if a 

restaurant that has an occupancy limit of 150 applies for a nightclub license, the 

City cannot now require the restaurant to maintain a occupancy limit of 100 

which is less than the approved occupancy limit for the primary use (restaurant). 

However, the City can adopt a code that sets an occupancy limit threshold to 

apply for the nightclub license.  For example, the code can restrict nightclub 

50



  

licenses to only uses that have an occupancy limit of 100 or less. Therefore the 

restaurant in the above example that has an occupancy limit of 150 will not be 

able to apply for a nightclub License. 

 Pros:  This will get to the heart of the impacts created by large nightclubs 

and will therefore limit the concentration of people in one location. 

 Cons:  This will limit the buildings and uses that can apply for a nightclub 

license and has the potential to create many small nightclubs that can still 

have a cumulative impact in an area. 

 

 

CONCLUSIONS 

From the above information it appears that regulating nightclub licenses based on an 

occupancy limit threshold may address the impacts that adjacent property owners and 

residences feel from large nightclubs.  If the Planning Commission feels that option 3 is 

the best course of action, code amendments related to it would go directly to City Council 

since the amendment would be in OHMC Chapter 5.22, Business Licenses & Regulation, 

and not in OHMC Title 19, Zoning. 

 

51



OHMC Chapter 17.24  

Sidewalks, Curbs and Gutters  

Installation 

 

Public Meeting 

52



1 

 
City of Oak Harbor 

 

Memo 

To: Planning Commission 

From: Steve Powers, Interim City Administrator 

CC:  

Date: 6/19/12 

Re: OHMC 17.24, Sidewalks, Curbs and Gutters Installation 

Oak Harbor Municipal Code (OHMC) Chapter 17.24, Sidewalks, Curbs and Gutters Installation, 
establishes the requirement that a building permit may not be issued for new construction, or for 
remodeling projects over a certain size, unless that project provides for sidewalks, curbs and gutters if 
none exists on the property (see attached copy).  The property owner may request a deferral from 
compliance with this code chapter.  The City Engineer is authorized to grant such deferrals as outlined 
in the code. 
 
Most property owners, contractors and/or developers expect to provide sidewalks as part of a new 
construction project.  The same is not always true when the project involves the remodeling or 
expansion of an existing use.  This is especially true in residential settings, especially in those 
neighborhoods were sidewalks are not found.1  One on hand, the addition of sidewalks can add 
substantial cost to a project.  On the other, sidewalks provide a safe place for pedestrians. 
 
This item is presented at this time for the Planning Commission’s discussion.  It appears on your 
agenda at the request of Commissioner Wallin. 

                                                      
1 The lack of sidewalks in a neighborhood does not imply that somehow the requirement was not 
followed.  Rather, it is most often related to the age of the neighborhood.  At the time older 
neighborhoods were developed the City may not have had a requirement to provide sidewalks. 

53



Oak Harbor Municipal Code  Page 1/2 

This page of the Oak Harbor Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 1620, passed December 20, 2012.  

Chapter 17.24 
SIDEWALKS, CURBS AND GUTTERS INSTALLATION 

Sections: 
17.24.010    Prerequisite for building permit – Exception. 
17.24.020    Plans and specifications. 
17.24.030    Permits. 
17.24.040    Appeal. 

17.24.010 Prerequisite for building permit – Exception. 
(1) No building permit shall hereafter be granted for a new commercial, industrial or 

residential building or structure or for the remodeling or alteration of a commercial, 
industrial or residential building exceeding 25 percent in value of the existing structures 
and buildings unless the plans and specifications therefor contain provisions for 
sidewalks and/or driveways across sidewalks on all sides of such property that may 
abut on a public street or highway to extend the full distance that such property sought 
to be occupied and/or developed; provided, however, that the city engineer may 
authorize the issuance of a building permit without compliance with the section where 
compliance is deemed to be impracticable or infeasible at that time or it is deemed to be 
in the best interest of the city to defer such construction. In making this decision, the city 
engineer shall consider the following:  

(a) Existence of Adjacent Walks. If no walks exist in the immediate area 
surrounding the site, construction may be postponed for the sidewalk installation.  

(b) Proposed Street Improvements in the Area. Alternatively, if widening or other 
street improvements are planned in the next five years that would require removal of the 
walks, a deferral may be considered.  

(c) Elevation of the Walk. If conditions require that the walk be installed at an 
elevation too high to be functional for access or drainage at the present time, a deferral 
may be granted.  

(d) Need. If there is no practical demand for sidewalks in the area, this factor will 
influence the decision to defer the construction.  

(e) Historical or Environmental Impact. Sidewalks may be deferred or not 
required if the sidewalk would destroy structures of historical significance or specimen 
trees such as Gerry Oaks.  

(2) If determined that a deferral is acceptable to the city, the owner must be willing to 
sign and record an agreement binding installation at the city request or in five years, 
whichever is sooner. The agreement may provide for five-year extensions at the request 
of the owner and approval of the city council. Such deferral may be conditioned upon 
the posting of a satisfactory performance bond providing for said deferred construction 
or posting cash in lieu of a performance bond.  

(3) Owners of properties proposing construction as defined in this chapter shall also 
construct curbs and gutters along the abutting streets unless, in the opinion of the city 
engineer, the conditions of drainage do not require such curbs and gutters and it is 
impracticable and infeasible and not in the best interest of the city to require the same. 
In making said decision, the city engineer shall take into consideration the history of 

54



Oak Harbor Municipal Code  Page 2/2 

This page of the Oak Harbor Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 1620, passed December 20, 2012.  

drainage in the area, and also the effect of the construction of the improvements 
proposed upon the drainage. (Ord. 750 § 1, 1986; Ord. 506 § 1, 1978).  

17.24.020 Plans and specifications. 
Plans for the construction of sidewalks, curbs and gutters required by this chapter 

shall be submitted to the building official as part of the plans submitted for obtaining a 
building permit. Grades for the construction of the improvements required by this 
chapter shall be established by the city engineer or by the approval of plans and grades 
furnished by the owner. All sidewalks, driveways, curbs and gutters required by this 
chapter shall be constructed of cement concrete and in accordance with the Standard 
Specifications for Municipal Public Works Construction as prepared by the Washington 
State Chapter, American Public Works Association. Openings for driveways for ingress 
and egress from the property shall be approved by the city engineer. (Ord. 750 § 2, 
1986; Ord. 506 § 2, 1978).  

17.24.030 Permits. 
The building permit shall include the required improvement and the value of the 

sidewalks or other improvement and shall be added to the value of the structure and the 
permit fee based on the total cost. (Ord. 750 § 3, 1986; Ord. 506 § 3, 1978).  

17.24.040 Appeal. 
Appeal of the city engineer’s decision shall be to the city council. (Ord. 750 § 4, 

1986). 

55



Shoreline Master Program (SMP) 

Update 

 

Public Meeting 

56



 

 Page 1 

Memo 

To: Members of the Planning Commission 

Cc: Steve Powers, Development Services Director 

From: Ethan Spoo, Senior Planner 

Date: 6/19/12 

Re: Shoreline Master Program Update – Chapter 4 Review 

PURPOSE 

This memorandum gives an overview of Chapter 4 of the draft Shoreline Master Program (SMP). 
 

CHAPTER 4: SHORELINE USE PROVISIONS 

Whereas Chapter 2 was area-specific policies/regulations (“Environment Designation Provisions”) and Chapter 
3 focused on regulations and policies which apply to all areas of the shoreline, Chapter 4 (“Shoreline Use 
Provisions”) focuses on specific types of uses within the shoreline.  

THE SCIENCE 
Certain uses are more appropriate for location along a shoreline, while others are less appropriate or not 
appropriate at all. Science shows that some uses create more pollution and degrade the shoreline environment 
more than others. Examples of these uses include: (1) large impervious areas, such as parking lots which 
channel stormwater pollution into the shoreline, (2) private septic systems which are often not adequately 
maintained and release nitrogen and fecal contaminants, and (3) any use which modifies the shoreline by 
changing the natural shape or vegetation along the shoreline.  

GUIDELINES AND STATE REQUIREMENTS 
As Planning Commission will recall, the primary goals of the Shoreline Management Act (SMA) and the 
Shoreline Master Program (SMP) are to: (1) preserve and protect the environment (2) protect and enhance  
public access and (3) promote water-dependent and water-oriented uses. The State Guidelines require that a 
system of policies and regulations be established “consistent with the control of pollution and prevention of 
damage to the natural environment, or are unique to or dependent upon uses of the state’s shoreline areas.”  

Therefore, use regulations are a required element of SMPs and help prevent pollution and damage to the 
shorelines. To accomplish this, the Guidelines recommend that a system of permitted, conditional and 
prohibited uses be established. 

KEY POLICIES AND REGULATIONS 
Permitted, Prohibited, and Conditional Uses 

The early part of Chapter 4 is a use table which details the permitted, prohibited, and conditional uses within in 
each environment designation. The committee and staff spent a significant amount of time customizing the use 

57



 

 Page 2 

table to Oak Harbor’s local circumstances. Staff suggest that Planning Commission spend a few minutes 
looking at Table 1 “Shoreline Use Table” (pages 44-46 of the Draft Shoreline Master Program).  Please also 
refer to Figure 4 attached for a map of the environment designations. Key features of Table 1 are as follows: 

 Boating facilities. Marinas, private piers, public piers and boat launches are generally relegated to the 
Maritime Environment near the Marina, with key exceptions. Public and private piers are allowed 
conditionally in the Urban Mixed Use Environment designation. Marina’s and public piers are allowed 
as a conditional use at Flintstone Park. Expansion of the Marina is allowed in aquatic areas adjacent to 
the Urban Mixed Use environment. 

 Commercial uses. Water-dependent and water-oriented commercial uses are permitted in the 
Maritime and Urban Mixed Use environments, and allowed conditionally in the Urban Public Facilities 
Environment. Non-water-oriented commercial is allowed conditionally in Maritime, Urban Mixed Use, 
and Urban Public Facilities designations. 

 Industry/Manufacturing. Industry and Manufacturing are only allowed in the Maritime environment. 

 Recreation. Water-oriented recreation is permitted in all zones. Non-water-oriented recreation is 
prohibited in all zones. 

 Residential Development. Residential uses are permitted in Urban Mixed Use, Residential, and 
Residential Bluff Conservancy environment designations, but prohibited elsewhere. 

Shoreline Development Standards 
Table 2 in Chapter 4 outlines the development standards for uses within the shoreline. Development standards 
include building heights, setbacks, maximum impervious surface coverage, lot frontage, and lot size. Key 
provisions include the following: 

 Maximum height.  Building heights are limited to 35 feet with the exception of the Maritime and Urban 
Mixed Use designations. Heights of 55 feet are allowed in Maritime for water-dependent industry, and 
in the CBD zone within the Urban Mixed Use Designation (see Figure 1) to preserve the future ability 
for downtown development. Please note that a view corridor study is required to go above 35 feet. 

 Setbacks. Shoreline setbacks are generally 50 feet, with the exception of the Urban Public Facility 
designation (75 feet) and the Conservancy designation (100 feet). Setback averaging is permitted in 
the Shoreline Residential and the Urban Mixed Use environments. Setback average allows structures 
to be placed closer than the setback, if existing structures within 100 feet are already closer. See 
Figures 2 and 3. 

Please also note that there is a 50-foot minimum setback from the ordinary high water mark in the 
Residential Bluff Conservancy environment, but this may be increased based upon a recommendation 
from a geotechnical engineer. In no case shall the setback be less than 25 feet from the top of the 
slope. 

 Maximum impervious surface. In urban areas along Oak Harbor, maximum impervious surface is 
80%, with the exception of residential designations where it is 30-40%. Conservancy is 10%. Staff 
wanted the specific ability to allow 80% impervious at Flintstone Park, where a future building and 
parking lot may be located. More restrictive impervious surface limits apply within the Zone 1 and Zone 
2 setback and vegetation management zone.  

Specific Use Provisions 
Almost all of the remainder of Chapter 4 is dedicated to use-specific policies and regulations. The Guidelines 
require that all applicable types of uses be addressed. Uses addressed in Oak Harbor’s SMP include 
agriculture, aquaculture, boating facilities and marinas, commercial, industrial and port facilities, parking, 
recreational development, residential development, transportation, utilities (primary), and utilities (accessory). 
Key policies and regulations of each of these use sections are as follows: 

58



 

 Page 3 

 Agriculture. 
o Agriculture as a primary use (farming) is prohibited in all shoreline environments, but is allowed 

as an accessory use (gardening). 

 Aquaculture. Aquaculture is the farming or culturing of food, fish, shellfish or other aquatic plants or 
animals. 

o A distinction is made between non-commercial aquaculture for the recovery of a species 
(habitat restoration) versus commercial aquaculture. The former is permitted in all zones, while 
commercial aquaculture is allowed conditionally in the Maritime and Aquatic zones. 

o The regulations in this section attempt to reduce the impacts of aquaculture. Provisions include 
requiring that aquaculture operations meet no net loss, preference for operations that do not 
modify substrate, limit on species type, and encourage proper washing and disposal of wastes. 

 Boating Facilities and Marinas. This section applies to piers, marinas, and public or community boat 
launches. Private moorage facilities serving four or fewer single-family residences are not covered. 
Because boating facilities are generally overwater facilities, that disrupt the substrate, this section seeks 
to limit impacts to the environment from these facilities. A representative policy for this section is 
number three which says “boating facilities that minimize the amount of shoreline modification, in-water 
structure, and overwater cover are preferred.” Key policies/regulations in this section do the following: 

o Require that facilities be appropriately sited to minimize impacts, with a  preference on 
expansion of existing rather than development of new facilities 

o Prohibit wood products treated with creosote, pentacholorophenol, or other toxic substances 
o Limits on the number of moorages at marinas 
o Minimize size, so as to limit overwater coverage 
o Require that 24% of overwater facilities allow transmission of light, consistent with Army Corp. 

of Engineer standards. However, this standard does not apply to Marinas. 
o Limit accessory uses to those which are water-oriented 

 Commercial. This section attempts to give priority to water-dependent and water-oriented commercial 
uses over non-water-oriented uses, as well as minimize impacts of commercial uses along the 
shoreline.  Key provisions are as follows: 

o New overwater commercial uses are prohibited, except for accessory commercial uses. 
o Non-water oriented commercial uses are prohibited, except for land which does not have direct 

access to the shoreline or as part of mixed-use development. When allowed, non-water-
oriented commercial must dedicate 20% outdoor open space. 

 Industrial. Similar to commercial uses, water-dependent and water-oriented industry is preferred over 
non-water-oriented industry. Key provisions are as follows: 

o Water-dependent and water-oriented industry are only allowed in the Maritime designation. 
o Non-water-oriented industry is prohibited in the shoreline 
o Public access is required, where appropriate, subject to safety. 

 Parking. Parking as a primary use (City garage or parking lot) is prohibited in the shoreline. Parking as 
an accessory use (parking in conjunction with a primary use) is allowed. Accessory parking must be 
located landward of the primary use. Adequate screening of parking lots is required. 
 

 Recreational Development. As with other types of uses, this section emphasizes water-oriented 
recreation and public access. This section also requires that no net loss be met for recreational 
developments. 
 

 Residential Development. This section applies to all residential uses within the shoreline. It is 
important to note that single-family uses are a priority use under the Shoreline Management Act. This 

59



 

 Page 4 

section seeks to mitigate some of the more common environmental impacts from residential uses, 
while at the same time encouraging these uses. Key provisions include the following: 

o Residential development should be located and designed to avoid the need for shoreline 
stabilization structures. 

o Overwater residences are prohibited. Liveaboard vessels are allowed at the Marina. 
o Fences shall be no more than four feet high within the required setback. 
o Low Impact Development is required, where feasible. 

 
 Transportation, Utilities (Primary), and Utilities (Accessory). These sections apply to all 

transportation facilities, including those for motorized, non-motorized, and water-dependent 
transporation, as well as primary and accessory utilities. Provisions encourage facilities to be located 
outside of shoreline jurisdiction, where possible and to reduce impacts to the shoreline environment 
when alternative locations are not possible. Key provisions include: 

o Locating facilities outside of shoreline jurisdiction, wherever possible 
o Streets designed with minimum pavement area 
o Solid waste facilities are prohibited within the shoreline 
o Utilities shall be located underground 

60



61



62



63



Figure 4
Shoreline Environment Designations

Maritime
Urban Mixed Use
Residential
Residential - Bluff Conservancy
Urban Public Facility
Conservancy

[
0 1,000 2,000

Feet

Data represented on this map were collected at different accuracy levels by various sources, including the City of Oak
Harbor, Island County, NASWI, WA DNR Shorezone data and WDFW. Shoreline jurisdiction and wetland boundaries
are approximate and have not been formerly delineated or surveyed and are intended for planning analysis only.
Additional site-specific evaluation may be needed to confirm/verify information shown on this map. No warranties of
any sort, including, but not limited to accuracy, fitness or merchantability, accompany this map.
Map Date: March 2012 64



2012 Comprehensive Plan  

Amendment Discussion 

Land Use Change 

 

Public Meeting 

65



 

CITY OF OAK HARBOR  

TO: PLANNING COMMISSION 

FROM: CAC KAMAK, SENIOR PLANNER 

SUBJECT: 2012 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENTS – LAND USE 

CONSIDERATIONS 

DATE: 6/19/2012 

CC: STEVE POWERS, DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIRECTOR 

 

Purpose:  The City Council approved the 2012 Comprehensive Plan Amendment 

Docket on March 20, 2012; this approval included consideration of land use amendments 

to properties adjacent to the marina (see Attachment 1 for map).  The intent of the land 

use amendment is to consider a designation that would allow additional uses that support 

the marina and other water-oriented uses.  The current land use designation is PF, Public 

Facilities. 

Background:  The marina and adjacent lands are currently designated as Public 

Facilities on the City’s Comprehensive Land Use Map and on the zoning map.  A copy of 

the Public Facilities zoning code is shown in Attachment 2.  The primary reason for 

designating it as Public Facilities is the city-owned and operated marina.  The storage 

sheds, boatyard and the yacht club are all considered accessory (customarily incidental 

and subordinate to a principal use) to the marina. Although “accessory” to the marina can 

be broadly interpreted, there are several water-dependent and water-related uses that do 

not fit under the marina’s scope but could benefit from the proximity to the shoreline and 

water.  This was evident when there was a recent request to locate a boat building 

business in the area.    

The Marina Redevelopment Plan adopted in 2006 recommends upland improvements 

to support the marina’s long term economic vitality.  Though specific improvements are 

not listed in the plan, it would be beneficial to list options for commercial and industrial 

uses to locate in the area.  Including specific language to permit some commercial and 

industrial uses in the area will provide options for private investment and will also allow 

a clearer path for enterprises to work with financial institutions and investors to consider 

investing in this area.   

The City is currently in the process of updating its Comprehensive Shoreline Master 

Program (SMP).  The draft SMP currently includes a new designation termed 

“Maritime”.  This new designation covers a larger geographical area than what is under 

consideration with this amendment but its intent is similar.  The SMP when approved and 

adopted will be an element of the Comprehensive Plan.  

66



2 

Discussion: There are several ways to accommodate a wider range of uses without 

impacting the current uses.  Text amendments, overlay zones and new land use and 

zoning designations are a few ways to address this topic.  Prior to determining the best 

methodology to address this change it would be beneficial to determine the kind of uses 

that are desired in this area.  The intent for this amendment was to accommodate high 

intensity water oriented commercial and industrial uses, water oriented transportation 

uses and other water related uses. Some of the uses to consider are suggested below.  This 

is an area where the Planning Commission and the public can provide additional ideas 

and comments to consider.   

Permitted Uses 

 Marina 

 Accessory uses to the marina such as storage sheds, parking lots, boat and 

trailer storage 

 Private clubs ancillary to the marina 

 Private boat yards and storage 

 Boat and ship builders 

 Water-dependent uses – ferry and passenger terminals, ship building and dry 

docking, float plane facilities, sewer and storm outfalls and similar uses. 

 Water-related uses – warehousing of goods transported by water 

 Parks and trails 

 

Conditional Uses 

 Principal permitted uses in the Central Business District (CBD)  except 

residential dwelling units (see attachment 3 for permitted uses in the CBD 

District) 

   

Text Amendments:  This method can introduce the additional uses that are desirable 

into the existing PF, Public Facilities zoning classification.  However, unless otherwise 

restricted adding these uses to the existing zoning classification will allow them to be 

permitted wherever there is PF, Public Facility designations in the City such as 

Windjammer Park, Flintstone Park, schools etc.  Since some of these uses may not be 

desirable in other locations, it can potentially lead to challenging issues in the future.  

Overlay Zones:  This is a regulatory tool that creates a special zoning district, placed 

over an existing base zone(s), which identifies special provisions in addition to those in 

the underlying base zone.  Overlay zones are used to protect resources such as 

environmentally sensitive areas, historic district, or encourage or discourage specific 

types of development.  In this case, the overlay zone would encourage additional uses 

above and beyond what is currently permitted in the underlying base zone.  An overlay 

zone has a clearly defined boundary and can be created by adding a section in the zoning 

ordinance describing its intent and the uses that would be permitted.  The drawback of an 

overlay zone is the potential for conflict between regulations or requirements between the 

67



3 

underlying base zone and the overlay zone, especially if the overlay zone is trying to 

accommodate many uses that the underlying zone does not permit. 

New land use category:  This method would create a new land use category in the 

Comprehensive Plan and create a corresponding zoning code section.  Choosing to create 

a new land use category to address a small area in the city appears like a major change.  

However, in the future, if the Navy made more land available at the seaplane base for 

private or public development, this land use category can be used to designate the area 

and encourage development. 

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission discuss the issue and gather input 

from the public on uses to consider/accommodate in the area.  The Commission’s 

discussion and public input will help create a framework and establish a preference for 

methodology to consider changes in the area. 

 

 

 

68



69



Oak Harbor Municipal Code  Page 1/3 

This page of the Oak Harbor Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 1620, passed December 20, 2011.  

Article XV. PF – Public Facilities 

19.20.770 Purpose and intent. 
The PF public facilities district is intended to accommodate public facilities and 

institutional land uses, including but not limited to public parks, schools, churches, 
governmental offices, public works yards, utility structures, hospitals, and other similar 
public and quasi-public uses. The zone was established to aid the city in planning for 
public facilities, while preventing conflicts between incompatible land uses. (Ord. 1573 § 
1, 2010; Ord. 1555 § 8, 2009). 

19.20.775 Principal permitted uses. 
In a PF district, the following are principal permitted buildings and uses: 
(1) Public parks and recreational facilities, including, but not limited to, regional 

parks, city parks and play fields, public golf courses, historic landmarks, indoor 
recreation centers, swimming pools and marinas; 

(2) Government facilities, including, but not limited to, administrative offices, postal 
stations, police stations, fire stations, parking lots, public water wells, storm drainage 
facilities, water and sewer pump stations, and family health/resource centers; 

(3) Community services, including, but not limited to, libraries, museums, community 
centers and senior centers and adult day care; 

(4) Churches and other religious institutions; 
(5) Public and private schools providing education at the preschool level or higher, 

excluding commercial trade schools; 
(6) Public utilities, except as regulated in OHMC 19.20.785; 
(7) Quarters for a caretaker, guard or the person whose permanent residency on the 

premises is required for operational safety or protective purposes; 
(8) Landfill reclamation to improve steep, low or otherwise unusable land. (Ord. 1573 

§ 1, 2010; Ord. 1555 § 8, 2009). 

19.20.780 Accessory permitted uses. 
(1) A use customarily incidental and subordinate to a principal use permitted 

outright. 
(2) On-site hazardous waste treatment and storage facilities as an accessory use to 

any activity generating hazardous waste and lawfully allowed in this zone; provided, that 
such facilities meet the state siting criteria adopted pursuant to the requirements of 
RCW 70.105.210. 

(3) Parking areas operated in conjunction with permitted uses. (Ord. 1573 § 1, 2010; 
Ord. 1555 § 8, 2009). 

19.20.785 Conditional uses permitted. 
The following principal uses and their accessory uses may be permitted in a PF 

district when authorized by the board hearing examiner in conformance with Chapter 
19.67 OHMC: 

ATTACHMENT 270



Oak Harbor Municipal Code  Page 1/5 

This page of the Oak Harbor Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 1620, passed December 20, 2011.  

Article VIII. CBD – Central Business District 

19.20.300 Purpose and intent. 
The central business district (CBD) is intended to preserve and enhance the unique 

harbor location of the city’s heritage with the character of the traditional center of social, 
cultural and retail activity. Mixed use developments, combining retail and visitor-oriented 
activities on the ground floor with office, retail and residential uses above, are required. 
Within the district, pedestrian-oriented activity is encouraged. Standards and design 
guidelines are adopted to enhance and maintain a pedestrian-friendly environment. 
Incentives are also provided to encourage the development of mixed use projects. 
Subdistricts CBD-1 and CBD-2 are created in order to provide for flexibility of residential 
development within specific areas of the central business district. Large surface parking 
lots are not encouraged. Shared clustered parking areas in the middle of blocks are 
allowed away from street frontages. Access driveways are to be kept at a minimum to 
promote safety and convenience of pedestrians. (Ord. 1573 § 1, 2010; Ord. 1555 § 8, 
2009). 

19.20.305 Principal permitted uses. 
In a central business district (CBD, CBD-1 or CBD-2), the following are principal 

permitted uses (for the purposes of this district only, uses considered to be “retail” are 
denoted with an (R)): 

(1) Antique shop (R); 
(2) Artist’s studios and supplies (R); 
(3) Bakery, retail only (R); 
(4) Bank; 
(5) Barber and beauty shops; 
(6) Bars (R); 
(7) Bicycle shop (R); 
(8) Billiards and pool hall (R); 
(9) Blueprinting; 
(10) Bookstore (R); 
(11) Brew pub (R); 
(12) Camera and supply shop (R); 
(13) Clothes and apparel shop (R); 
(14) Cocktail lounge (R); 
(15) Coffee house (R); 
(16) Confectionery store (R); 
(17) Conference center; 
(18) Data processing facility; 
(19) Delicatessen (R); 
(20) Department store (R); 
(21) Dry cleaners; 
(22) Furniture shop (R); 
(23) Florist shop (R); 
(24) Gift shop (R); 

ATTACHMENT 271



Oak Harbor Municipal Code  Page 2/5 

This page of the Oak Harbor Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 1620, passed December 20, 2011.  

(25) Grocery store, neighborhood, provided gross floor area shall not exceed 12,000 
square feet (R); 

(26) Hardware store (R); 
(27) Hobby shop (R); 
(28) Hotel and motel; 
(29) Ice cream shop (R); 
(30) Interior decorator studio (R); 
(31) Jewelry store (R); 
(32) Leather goods store (R); 
(33) Music store (R); 
(34) Offices; 
(35) Office supply and equipment store (R); 
(36) Pet shop (R); 
(37) Pharmacy and drug store (R); 
(38) Photographic film processing and associated retail sales (R); 
(39) Photographic studio and supplies; 
(40) Photocopying; 
(41) Post office; 
(42) Printing shop; 
(43) Residential uses, provided: 

(a) In the CBD district: mixed use sites with multiple street frontages may locate 
dwelling units on the ground level on any street frontages other than Pioneer Way; 

(b) In subdistricts CBD-1 or CBD-2: dwelling units may be the primary use of the 
site; 

(44) Restaurant, including sidewalk cafe (R); 
(45) Schools for the fine arts; 
(46) Shoe repair shop (R); 
(47) Shoe store (R); 
(48) Sporting goods shop (R); 
(49) Tailor shop (R); 
(50) Tavern (R); 
(51) Taxi service; 
(52) Theater; 
(53) Tobacco shop (R); 
(54) Toy store (R); 
(55) Travel agencies; 
(56) Trophy shop (R); 
(57) Upholstery shop; 
(58) Variety store (R); 
(59) Visitor information center; 
(60) Other uses similar to those identified above and having equal or less impact on 

the purposes of this section. (Ord. 1573 § 1, 2010; Ord. 1555 § 8, 2009). 

19.20.310 Accessory permitted uses. 
In a central business district (CBD, CBD-1, or CBD-2), the following are accessory 

permitted uses: 

ATTACHMENT 272



Oak Harbor Municipal Code  Page 3/5 

This page of the Oak Harbor Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 1620, passed December 20, 2011.  

(1) A use customarily incidental and subordinate to a principal use permitted 
outright; 

(2) On-site hazardous waste treatment and storage facilities as an accessory use to 
any activity generating hazardous waste and lawfully allowed in this zone; provided, that 
such facilities meet the state siting criteria adopted pursuant to the requirements of 
RCW 70.105.210; 

(3) Television satellite dish reflectors, roof-mounted and within building setback lines 
not to exceed the height limitations and other standards as set out in OHMC 19.20.320; 
provided said height limitation may be increased when such height is permitted per 
OHMC 19.28.040 and 19.28.050. (Ord. 1573 § 1, 2010; Ord. 1555 § 8, 2009). 

19.20.315 Conditional uses permitted. 
The following principal uses and their accessory uses may be permitted in a central 

business district (CBD, CBD-1, or CBD-2) when authorized by the hearing examiner: 
(1) Coffee kiosk; 
(2) Dancehall; 
(3) Governmental buildings for administrative or protective services; 
(4) Health club; 
(5) Land reclamation with water-dependent marine development; 
(6) Parking lots or garages not in conjunction with permitted uses; 
(7) Places of entertainment and amusement, if conducted within a wholly enclosed 

building; 
(8) Private nursery school, kindergarten, or child day care center not qualifying as a 

home occupation on a legal lot; provided, there is established in connection therewith 
an outdoor play area having a minimum area of 1,000 square feet plus an additional 50 
square feet for each child in excess of eight; 

(9) Public utility and communications facility; 
(10) Transit terminals; 
(11) Swimming pools or beaches, public or private; 
(12) Other uses similar to uses permitted or conditionally permitted and normally 

located in the central business district; provided, that there shall be no manufacturing, 
compounding, processing or treatment of products other than that which is essential to 
the retail store or business where all such products are sold on the premises. (Ord. 
1573 § 1, 2010; Ord. 1555 § 8, 2009). 

19.20.320 Density provisions. 
In CBD, CBD-1 and CBD-2, the following density provisions apply: 
(1) Allowable density: 
 District Minimum Maximum 

CBD None None 

CBD-1 9 du/ac None 

CBD-2 13 du/ac None 

 
(2) Minimum lot area, no limitation; 

ATTACHMENT 273



Oak Harbor Municipal Code  Page 4/5 

This page of the Oak Harbor Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 1620, passed December 20, 2011.  

(3) Minimum lot width, no limitation; 
(4) Minimum lot depth, no limitation; 
(5) Minimum front yard, no limitation, except when opposite a residentially zoned 

property, then a 10-foot front yard is required. Front yard setback may also be increased 
to 10 feet if needed for traffic safety; front yard setback shall be provided so as to 
maintain a 12-foot sidewalk measured from the existing curb or future curb line; 

(6) Minimum side yard, no limitation except when abutting a residentially zoned 
property, then 10 feet each. For corner lots, side yard may also be increased to 10 feet 
if needed for traffic safety; 

(7) Minimum rear yard, no limitation except when opposite a residentially zoned 
property, then 10-foot rear yard is required or except when abutting a public street 
where the setback may be increased to 10 feet if needed for traffic safety; 

(8) Maximum building height; 35 feet; except: 
(a) In CBD: building height may be increased to 45 feet if ground floor retail 

space (as defined in OHMC 19.20.300) is developed in conjunction with a residential 
use; 

(b) In CBD-2: building height may be increased to 45 feet for residential 
development (without a retail component); 

(c) In CBD: building height may be increased to 45 feet for nonresidential uses or 
mixed use projects upon approval of the design review board and by providing 
additional urban amenities as defined in the Oak Harbor commercial and industrial 
design guidelines; 

(d) In CBD: building height may be increased to 55 feet for nonresidential uses or 
mixed use projects upon approval of the design review board and by providing 
additional urban amenities as defined in the Oak Harbor commercial and industrial 
design guidelines. The design review board shall specifically review the proposed 
project and building height for its impacts on waterfront and mountain views and require 
reasonable mitigation as necessary; 

(9) Maximum lot coverage, no limitation; 
(10) Parking. 

(a) Nonresidential Uses. There shall be no required parking for nonresidential 
uses; except, however, if parking is provided, it shall meet the parking space size and 
access requirements of OHMC 19.44.110; 

(b) Residential uses shall provide parking per Chapter 19.44 OHMC, except that 
guest parking need not be provided. If guest parking is provided it shall meet the 
parking space size and access requirements of OHMC 19.44.110; 

(c) Any parking provided beneath a permitted residential use shall be enclosed; 
(d) No more than 50 percent of the gross floor area along pedestrian-oriented 

streets may be used for residential parking; 
(11) Design Standards. 

(a) Development shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Oak Harbor 
commercial and industrial design guidelines; 

(b) Residential development shall have ground level access independent of 
nonresidential uses from an inside lobby, elevators and/or corridors, from an enclosed 
interior court, or from other separate access provisions; 

ATTACHMENT 274



Oak Harbor Municipal Code  Page 5/5 

This page of the Oak Harbor Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 1620, passed December 20, 2011.  

(c) Nonresidential development along Pioneer Way, between SE City Beach 
Street and SE Midway Boulevard, shall meet the following standards: 

(i) Ground-floor, nonretail development shall not comprise more than 50 
percent of the lineal street frontage of the lot; 

(ii) Window areas for nonresidential portions of a building’s facades shall not 
be less than 40 percent or greater than 60 percent of the total facade area; 

(iii) Conformance with the above standards shall be determined by using the 
design guideline applicability standards established under OHMC 19.48.040; 

(d) Residential development in subdistrict CBD-1 or CBD-2 shall be under a 
planned residential development per Chapter 19.31 OHMC; 

(e) Nonresidential development with building heights greater than 45 feet, as 
approved by the design review board, shall provide a minimum of 450 square feet of 
pedestrian-oriented space (as defined in the Oak Harbor commercial and industrial 
design guidelines) plus an additional 25 square feet for each vertical foot of building 
height above 45 feet; 

(f) All buildings in the CBD greater than three stories must set back upper stories 
by at least 10 feet. (Ord. 1573 § 1, 2010; Ord. 1555 § 8, 2009). 

19.20.325 Conditions governing permitted uses. 
All principal uses permitted outright in a CBD, CBD-1, or CBD-2 district shall meet 

the following conditions: 
(1) All business, service, repair, storage, or merchandise display shall be conducted 

within a wholly enclosed building, except for the following: 
(a) Off-street parking and loading; 
(b) Food and drink service in connection with cafes, restaurants or other eating 

establishments. 
(2) The use of property must not result in the creation of offensive odors or offensive 

or harmful quantities of dust, smoke, exhaust fumes, noise or vibration. 
(3) Landscaping and buffers shall be constructed and maintained in accordance with 

the provisions of Chapter 19.46 OHMC. (Ord. 1573 § 1, 2010; Ord. 1555 § 8, 2009). 

ATTACHMENT 275



Oak Harbor Municipal Code  Page 2/3 

This page of the Oak Harbor Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 1620, passed December 20, 2011.  

(1) Electric substations, treatment plants, public works yards, public 
telecommunications towers, and other similar uses. Distribution or collection line 
rights-of-way and easements are exempt from the requirements of the PF district; 

(2) Private lodges and clubs, fraternal organizations, and commercial establishments 
when ancillary to a permitted use; 

(3) Child day care when ancillary to a permitted use. (Ord. 1573 § 1, 2010; Ord. 
1555 § 8, 2009). 

19.20.790 Prohibited uses. 
The following uses are expressly prohibited by this chapter: 
(1) Permanent, transient and temporary dwelling units, except as allowed under 

OHMC 19.20.775(7); 
(2) Private lodges and clubs, fraternal organizations, private golf courses, and other 

similar clubs, except as allowed under OHMC 19.20.785; 
(3) Private radio, television and communications stations. (Ord. 1573 § 1, 2010; Ord. 

1555 § 8, 2009). 

19.20.792 Manufactured home structures. 
A manufactured home (mobile home) is authorized to be placed within this district for 

a temporary time period, not to exceed five years, to serve nonresidential uses as 
provided for in permitted and conditional use code sections (OHMC 19.20.775 and 
19.20.785). A two-year extension may be approved by separate application. 
Development is subject to all other provisions of this code the same as on-site 
construction. Manufactured homes shall not be authorized for use predominantly as 
storage. Manufactured homes shall not be permitted in a public facilities district where 
the public facility zone is adjacent to central business district zones. All applications for 
manufactured home structures, including time extensions, must be approved by the 
planning commission. (Ord. 1573 § 1, 2010; Ord. 1555 § 8, 2009). 

19.20.795 Density provisions. 
(1) Minimum lot area: No limitation. 
(2) Minimum lot width: No limitation. 
(3) Minimum lot depth: No limitation. 
(4) Minimum front yard: 35 feet. 
(5) Minimum side yard: No limitation, except when buildings abut a residentially 

zoned property, then 12 feet each side. For corner lots, a side yard abutting a public 
street shall be 35 feet. 

(6) Minimum rear yard: No limitation except: 
(a) When abutting a public street, then 35 feet; 
(b) When abutting a residential zone, then 12 feet. 

(7) Maximum building height: 35 feet. For manufactured home structures: single 
story of 25 feet. 

(8) Maximum lot coverage: No limitation. 
(9) Exemptions. Public parking lots are exempt from the density provisions of the PF 

zone; provided, that other provisions of this title shall apply. (Ord. 1573 § 1, 2010; Ord. 
1555 § 8, 2009). 

ATTACHMENT 276



Oak Harbor Municipal Code  Page 3/3 

This page of the Oak Harbor Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 1620, passed December 20, 2011.  

19.20.800 Landscaping requirements. 
(1) Design shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Oak Harbor design 

guidelines. 
(2) Landscaping and buffers shall be constructed and maintained in accordance with 

the provisions of Chapter 19.46 OHMC. (Ord. 1573 § 1, 2010; Ord. 1555 § 8, 2009). 

19.20.805 Site plan and design review required. 
Site plan and design review shall be required as defined in Chapter 19.48 OHMC. 

(Ord. 1573 § 1, 2010; Ord. 1555 § 8, 2009). 

ATTACHMENT 277




